
IIDlf 3: William Myers, M.D. of Herndon bought Lot 2 from these same 

heirs of laura for $1250 on 10 June 1925 (N9/421). 

A: 	 marker and northeast corner of lot deeded to Harold Hanes, 

B: 	 northwest corner of Hanes and in center of County road 

(BA: with north line of Hanes N 770 24' W 649 feet), 

C: 	 --(CB: with center of road N 220 45' E 93 feet), 

D: 	 marker (DC: S 770 24' E 630 feet), 

A: 	 beginning (AD: at right angle, S 120 36' W 90.8 feet) 

1.309 acres 

) 
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IIDlf 4: laura's heirs (except her husband who must have died) sold lot 3 

(1.272 acres) to lottie M. Meyer of Herndon on 8 November 1929 (PI0/343). 

a: 	 begin at iron marker in center of Madison St. (extended) and 

northeast corner of lot 2, 

b: 	 center of county road and northwest corner of lot 2 

(ba: with lot 2 N 770 24' W 630 feet), 

c:' 	 center of road (cb: with center of road N 220 45' E 93 

feet) , 

d: 	 center of Madison St. (de: with new division line parallel 

1 	 to south line thereof S 770 24' E and passing over iron 

marker at distance of 15 feet from center of road and with 

same line extended an additional 597 feet--total of 612 

feet) , 

a: 	 beginning (ad: with center of Madison St. S 120 36' W 90.8 

feet) 

1.272 acres 
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IID2: The history of Ancel/Isabella St. John's parcel of land is 

complicated and not easily understood because the St. John's land became 

subdivided into many, reasonably small parcels--much of downtown Herndon 

was their land. 

The majority of the St. John's land was sold to Lyman D. Ballou "now 

of Herndon" for $7312.50 on 20 April 1869 (J4/434). 

a: 	 begin at the center of the road leading northerly from the 

County road towards Jenkins Mill though the land formerly 

called "Calyer Farm" 	 to a point where the original south 

) 	 line of "Calyer Farm" crosses the said road, 

b: 	 stake and stones at Van reusen' s south line (ba: north along 

center of road 91 chains 96 links), 

c: 	 gum tree in Folly Lick (cb: N 610 W 3 chains, 20 links), 

d: 	 large chestnut oak, corner to Orrison Bready and this track 

(dc: up [Folly] "Lick or Creek" with several courses and 

meanders) , 

e: 	 northeast line of Alexandria, Loudoun and Hampshire railroad 

(ed: with Bready, S 50 E 36 chains, 68 links), 

f: 	 --(fe: along railroad southeast 7 chains, 64 links), 

a: 	 beginning (af: S 820 E 27 chains, 45 links), 

195 acres* 

*This is an error in the deed--see the reasoning in IID2g for the 
) reason. The "correct" acreage is 165 acres. 
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Figure: 

DEED BOOK/PAGE: :r4/'13 'I 
DATE; J 

2OIlPfl/Uf6'1FROM, 4"CHLrsIl6I2H~Sv. -;rO~N TO,_~Y-I1tlN 60. 110« 

ACREAGE: 195 G(Jees 

CARTER 11729 Be 1772) 
14847 Ac 

THOMAS It 7271 

1725 Ac 

-----­ Patent/Grant Boundary 
a--­ ______ t Herndon 

Roads in Herndon 

\ 

RICHARD 
COLEMAN (18181 

35.06 Ac 

SAVAGE (1731) 

800 Ac 

a, 
nc 

riJ 

~ SCALE: 
Adapted from Mitchell, "Beginning at White Oak . 2000' 4000' 

- f"!i!!! 
1" ~ 4000' = 242.4 Hods 



Lyman D./Hannah Ballou placed a lien on this land on 20 April 1869 

(J4/461) in order to secure a $3250 debt dated 27 March 1869; $250 was due 

in 2 years and the remaining $3000 was due in 4 equal annual payments on 

each of the next March 27ths. Benjamin H. Bready, as trustee, was able to 

release this lien in part on 30 January 1872 (Y4/135) and in part on 23 May 

1874 (R4/228). 

, 

) 
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1ID2a: Caroline N. lacy of Dranesville Township bought 50 acres 

from Lyman D. Ballou for $1500 on 1 February 1872 (Q4/177). The land was 

described as being "near Herndon Station." 

a: 	 begin at a hickory tree on the bank of Folly Lick Creek with 

two hickory trees and one oak tree as pointers, 

b: stake in old road leading to Jenkins Mill (ba: S 740 E 32 

) rods), 

c: 	 --(cb: S 110 W 29.rods), 

d: 	 --(de: south 8 rods), 

e: 	 --(ed: S 90 E 22 rods), 

f: 	 --(fe: S 20 W 18 rods), 

g: 	 corner of Edwin D. Farnham (f g: S 80 E 26 rods), 

h: 	 I. Bready's land and a fence (hg: S 81 1/20 W 102 rods), 

i: 	 chestnut oak, corner to Bready (ih: N 50 Wwith Bready 29 

rods) , 

a: 	 beginning (down the Creek [Folly Lick] with meanders), 

50 acres. 

The 	deed contains the clause that if the old road is "discontinued or 

closed up," Ballou reserves access to the right-of-way along the old line 

of 	the road for access to a wood lot "or for other purposes;" Ballou agrees 

to guarantee the same 	right to lacy. Since Ballou had not yet repaid his 

debt 	of J4/461 Lacy would not have had clear title to the land unless, as 

was done on 30 January 	1872 (Y4/135) Benjamin Bceady released Ballou's lien 

on 	the 50 acres Caroline bought. 
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George W./Caroline N. lacy of "Dranesville Township, Fairfax County" 

placed a lien of their own on this 50 acres; they wasted no time but 

accepted this lien on 1 February 1872 (04/200 in order to "protect" a debt 

of $1200 (at 6% interest) owed Lyman Ballou; Isaiah Bready was the trustee 

for this little transaction. The lacy's sold their 50 acres in 3 separate 

sales; since this lien had not been totally repaid before any of the sales, 

the lien had to be released in 3 separate deeds - W4/478 (25 September 

1878), Y4/137 (20 October 1879) and Y4/370 (7 December 1878). 
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IID2a 1: Caroline N./George W. lacy of Herndon sold 25 acres toJ.M. 

McNeill of Washington, D.C. for $2000 on 14 September 1878 (W4/480). 

a: begin at "A", a point in the center of a road, 

b: "B", a stake in the center of "Herndon Brook" (ba: S 820 W 

(corrected) 45 poles), 

c: Folly Lick (cb: down the brook North 38 poles, N 170 W 15 

poles, N 4 1/20 W 6 poles), 

d: "C", a large rock in the center of Folly Lick, opposite of a 

white oak (dc: down Folly Lick, N 22 1/20 E 2.5 poles, 

N 46 1/20 W 2 poles, N 210 E 6 poles, N 50 E 2 poles, 

N 270 E 2 poles, N 300 E 2 poles, N 680 E 2 poles, N 660 E 

2 poles, N 160 E 5 poles, N 660 E 2 poles, N 20 W 5 poles, 

N 500 W 2 poles, N 310 E 2 poles, N 80 E 8 poles), 

e: "D", stake in a road (ed: across the tract S 670 E 39 

poles) , 

a: beginning (ae: with the road S 16 1/20 W 12 poles, S 30 W 48 

poles, S 70 W 28 poles), 

25 acres. 

The Lacys reserve the right-of -way to "pass and repass" at their pleasure 

f rom their lot west of "the Brook" across the southern part of the property 

to the old road from Herndon to Jenkins Mill, the right-of-way is not to 

exceed 15 feet. 'The sale to McNeill was completed when Isaiah Bready 

released this land from the lacy lien of 1 February 1872 on 25 September 

1878 (W4/ 478). 
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Liens seemed to be in vogue (as if they are not so now); J.M./Frances 

L. McNeill placed a lien on their 25 acres on 1 October 1878 (X4/116) as 

security for the $1800 (at 6% interest) debt they owed Caroline Lacy and 

agreed to repay on installments of $50 per month. F.D. Stephenson, of 

Herndon, was appointed trustee and released the lien on 19 November 1894 

(S5/93). 

This lien paid off, another was in order. On 19 November 1894 (S5/95) 

Frank A. McNeill (J.M.' s son) and Frances L. McNeill (his widow) placed a 

lien on this 25 acres in order to secure a $500 debt owed the Mercantile 

Railway Building and Loan Association of Alexandria. Thomas Moss, John 

Wilkins and Thomas Jameson were trustees. The lien was released on 23 

December 1895 (V5/375). 

Liens must be addicting--on 2 January 1896 (V5/376) Frances L. and 

Frank A. McNeill placed still another lien on their land, this time to 

secure a debt of $824 due George W. Bell in one year. Floyd W. Middleton, 

as trustee, released the lien on 27 July 1904 (Q6/139)--a very long year! 

There was some "defect" in the lien documentation for the lien was refiled 

in V5/453 with the comment that it was done "to correct a defect." 

This is getting repetitive--on 27 July 1904 (Q6/131) Frances L. 

McNeill (widow) and Frank A./Beulah McNeill placed another lien on the 25 

acres. Walter T. Oliver of Fairfax County was trustee and was supposed to 

insure that the $1000 owed by the McNeill's to Philip W. Lawrence of NOrth 

Bingham, Pennsylvania was repaid within 3 years (at 6% interest). Things 

worked out well and the lien was released on 19 June 1908 (Z6/517). 
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Tiring (finally) of this routine, Frank A.*/Beulah McNeill sold the 

"same land, less one acre [kept by McNeill?] sold to J.M. McNeill by 

Caroline lacy" to Alfred Stanton on 15 May 1908 (Z6/346). 

a: 	 begin in the middle of Folly Lick Run, corner to a one acre 

lot, 

b: 	 Monroe St., 15 feet from west boundary thereof (ba: S 630 E 

[passing through a stake at 11 feet and another at 614.7 

feet} 627.9 feet), 

c: 	 --(cb: with Monroe, parallel to and 15 feet from west 

boundary 	S 200 03' W 193.1 feet), 

10d: 	 --Cdc: S 03' E 664.3 feet), 

e: 	 middle of 40 foot street (ed: S 60 10' E 540.8 feet), 

f: 	 middle of small stream (fe: with middle of street, 

S 830 44' W 753.1 feet), 

a: 	 beginning (af: down middle of stream and down middle of 

Folly Lick N 20 03' E 627 feet, N 160 19' W 398.5 feet, 

N 200 10' E 385.2 feet, N 770 32' E 66.6 feet, N 270 43' E 

137 	feet, N 160 39' W 87.4 feet, N 120 06' E 172.3 feet), 

24 acres. 

*The tlsole surviving heir of J. M. McNeill." 
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IID2a2: On 7 December 1878 (X4/431) J. M. McNeill of Herndon bought 

2.75 	acres for $68 from Caroline N./George W. lacy, also of Herndon. 

a: 	 begin at a hickory tree on the bank of Folly Lick Creek, 

with 2 hickories and an oak tree as pointers, being the 

northwest corner of original [Ballou to Lacy] tract of which 

this is a part, 

b: 	 stake in old road leading to Jenkins Mill (ba: 5 740 E 22 

rods) 

c: 	 stake, the northeast corner of former tract sold by Lacy to 

McNeill on 1 October 1878 (cb: south along center of road 14 

rods, 15 links) 

d: 	 stone in the center of Folly Lick Creek, an oak standing on 

the east bank (de: west or westerly 39 rods), 

a: 	 beginning (ad: down the center of Folly Lick 10 rods, 15 

links) 

) 2 acres 120 rods = 2.75 acres 

Again, since Lacy's lien was not completely repaid, Isaiah Bready had to 

issue a release specifically for this land; he did so on 7 December 1878 

(Y4/370). 

On 12 March 1889 (H5/597) Frances L. McNeill [Widow] and F.A. McNeill 

[son] of Herndon sold this land to Julia Church, wif e of Charles D. Church, 

for $100. 

Julia and Charles D., of Washington, kept the land for 6 years before 

placing a lien on their 2.75 acres on 14 January 1895 (55/393) in order to 
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pacify the uneasiness of the Baltimore Building and Loan Association; the 

Association was worried about its $200 loan to the Churches, Merton C. 

Church of Falls Church, as trustee, released the lien on 11 June 1902 

(K6/89). 

The Churches sold their land to Thomas Dade for $250 on 6 June 1902 

(K6/91). 
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IID2a3: Af ter selling these 27 3/4 acres to the McNe1l1s, the lacys 

repaid the remaining debt on their 04/200 lien and received a final release 

(Y4/137); they decided to take on another lien on their remaining 22 1/4 

acres. This lien, with Lyman Ballou as trustee, was to secure a $600 debt 

Ancel St. John owed and repayable, with 6% interest, in 6 annual $100 

payments. The lacys did the paperwork on 3 November 1879 (Y4/109) and 

received a release on 3 'March 1891 (K5/274). 

On 20 November 1880 (Z4/390) the Lacys placed another lien on their 

acreage to insure a debt of $250 (at 8% .interest) they owed Ancel St. John; 

Lyman D. Ballou, as trustee, also released this. lien on 3 March 1891 

(K5/2 74). 

Mary C. Bolton of Washington, D. C. bought these 22 1/4 acres from 

Caroline N./George H. Lacy of Washington for $2000 on 23 February 1891 

(K5/275). 

a: begin in the center of Herndon Brook, 

b: Isaiah Bready's line (ba: S 811/20 W 57 rods), 

c: chestnut oak, corner to Bready (cb: N 50 W 29 rods) 

d: intersection of Folly Lick with Herndon Brook (cd: down 

Folly Lick) 

a: beginning (ad: up brook S 38 1/2[1], S 170 E 15 poles, 

S 41 1/20 E 6 poles), 

22 1/4 acres. 
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On 23 February 1891 (K5/220) Mary C./Alfred H. Bolton placed a lien on 

their land with Isaiah Bready as the trustee. The lien had two purposes-­

to secure $1069.17 due Isabella St. John ($300 due 1 January 1892, $400 due 

1 July 1892 and $369.17 due 1 January 1893) and to secure $630.83 due 

Caroline N. lacy ($130.83 due on 1 January 1893 and $500 due on 1 July 

1893). The St. John lien took precedence over the Lacy lien. 

The Bolton's defaulted on their lien; the land, after the appropriate 

advertisements were made, was auctioned on 23 March 1893 to Edward St. John 

for $1300. Isaiah Bready transferred title to St. John on 17 April 1893 

(051322) after Edward had paid the purchase price. This transaction, 

presumably, also released the lien since the provisions of all liens 

requires the sale price to be used to repay the debt; whether $1300 was 

sufficient to pay the costs of the auction, recording fees and still pay 

off the remaining debt is not known, but rather presumed. 

The land apparently was not all that special, for Edward/Lillie R. 

St. John sold the 22 1/4 acres on the same day they bought it (24 t~rch 

1893) to Julia A. Schooly, wife of William T. Schooly for $1300 (051324). 

To make things complete, the Schooly's placed a lien on this land on 

24 April 1893 (K6/674) in order to protect Edward St. John from the 

possible catastrophic loss of the $600 the Schoolys owed. They agreed to 

repay the debt in 2 equal installments (in 1 and 2 years); Isaiah Bready 

continued as everybody's trustee. He released the lien on 16 April 1895 

(K6/676). For Some unknown (to me) reason the lien was recorded, with the 

same date, etc., again in K6/674. 
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Julia A./William T. Schooly* of Herndon sold this 22 1/4 acres to 

Sarah A. Wells, widow, of Herndon for $1900 on 20 December 1902 (L6/256). 

) 

*The "women's movement" might not have been obvious in 1900 but notice 
that the deeds are careful to put the individual purchaser of the land-~an 
or woman~-first in all subsequent deeds involving the land, whether for a 
lien or a sale. Capitalism has some leveling effect even with sexism! 
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IID2b: Lyman D. /Hannah Ballou of Herndon sold 25 acres of land to 

Edwin D. Farnham of Herndon for $1000 on 12 May 1874 (R4/75). 

a: begin at the center of the road leading from Herndon north 

) to Jenkins Mill and at the southeast corner of Caroline 

Lacy's land, 

b: stake (ba: along center of road S 170 E 38 rods), 

) c: Bready (cb: S 81 1/20 W 111.8 rods), 

d: Lacy (de: N 3 1/20 W 37 1/2 rods), 

a: beginning (ad: with Lacy N 81 1/20 E 102 rods), 

J 25 acres. 
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The Ballous reserved for themselves and for lacy the right-of-way on 

the east front of the lot. 

Being quick responders, Edwin D./Ellen M. Farnham placed a lien on 

this land as soon as they could--12 May 1874 (R4/73). The lien secured a 

$600 debt owed Ancel St. John and was due in one year with 8% interest and 

Lyman D. Ballou was appointed as trustee. The lien was released on 22 

October 1889 (15/218)--a whopping long year! 

On 15 June 1878 (X4/357) "Edwin Farnham and -­ ,--­ his wife of 

Washington, D. C." sold this 25 acres to Hattie B. Nordstrom of Herndon for 

"$ Farnham liked the idea of selling the land so much that he" 

did it again; in G5/14 (also dated 15 June 1878) Edwin Farnham of 

Washington, D.C. (with no wife even mentioned) sold the land to Nordstrom 

"again", this time for $IS00--why the deed needed to be repeated is not 

clear (was Mrs. Farnham dead and the mention of her in the first deed 

incorrect?). 

To even make things more exciting, Hattie B. Nordstrom (still of 

Herndon) placed a lien on her land on 15 May 1878 (X4/360)--1 month before 

she owned it!* This lien was to protect a $750 debt due Edwin O. Farnham 

in equal installments in 3, 9, 12 ••• 48 months. Edwin Farnham as 

trustee released the lien on 9 November 1889 (15/217). 

*These funny juxtapositions of dates is, of course, only a reflection 
of the peculiarities of recording deeds, not the real sequence (or often 
even the dates) of actual sales or placing of liens. 
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1ID2bl: On 15 October 1889 (15/216) Hattie B. Nordstrom sold 24 

acres to Lena D. Forbes, wife of Robert Forbes for $2000. The land was 

described as being the same land as Farnham sold Nordstrom in X4/358 and 

G5/14 except for 1 acre sold Mahoney (15/458) and was the "land embraced by 

road called Echo St." on the north side of the 25 acres. 

Lena D. Forbes of Herndon sold the land to Edwin W. DeLeon of New York 

City for $2250 on 23 February 1897 (Z5/678). 

DeLeon immediately (8 November 1897) sold the land to Catherine E. 

Lloyd for $2000 (5Z/680) - he must have been in a hurry to "lose" $250! 

Catherine, then a widow, and living in Washington, D.C., owed Deleon 

$478.67 payable in 24 notes: 23 at $20 each and due each month starting 18 

December 1897, it was not clear from the deed when the final $18.67 was 

due. Ferdinand Stephenson was selected as a trustee for this 13 November 

1897 (Z5/685) lien which was guaranteed (and written documents are 

guarantees, unlike a person's "word of honor") to secure this debt. The 

lien was released 10 August 1899 (06/270). 

Catherine E. Lloyd, still of Washington and still a widow, sold this 

land to James Cockerilleof Fairfax County for $1000 (some people sure 

like to lose money--DeLeon lost $250 in 1 day while Lloyd lost $1000 in 8 

years) on 5 May 1905 (R6/552). 
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11D2b2: On 21 June 1888 (15/468) Hattie B. Nordstrom of Herndon sold 

1 acre of land to Minnie Lee (wife of Bonaparte W.) Mahoney for $60. 

a: begin at a marked post in a fence, 

b: --(ba: S 7 1/20 E 12 rods 9 feet), 

c: stake with pine tree for witness 7 links from stake (cb: 

S 82 1/20 W 12 rods 9 feet), 

d: "the street" (de: N 7 1/20 W 12 rods 9 feet), 

a: beginning (ad: along road N 82 1/20 E 12 rods 9 feet), 

1 acre.* 

Minnie Lee/B. W. Mahoney of Wiehle sold the 1 acre to Courtney A. 

Hutchinson for $190 on 23 January 1891 (5Z/236). 

Courtney Hutchinson died, leaving the land to her son Andrew G. 

Andrew G./Lucy G. Hutchinson placed a lien on 4 parcels of land, including 

this 1 acre, on 30 June 1902 (K6/246) in order to secure a debt to William 

R. Ward, the Court appointed receiver in the suit of Otterback et al vs 

Bohrer (no reason for the suit or the Hutchinson's involvement is mentioned 

in the deed). C. Vernon Ford, trustee, released the lien on 30 October 

1906 (V6/259) and 1 August 1919 (M8/262). 

The Hutchinson's sold the land to Silas E. Gillette for $200 on 30 

January 1917 (08/15). 

*Without more definite information, I cannot precisely locate this 
land within Farnham's 25 acres. More research probably (I hope) will 
resolve my ignorance. 
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IID2c: On 1 July 1878 (W4/219) Lyman D./Hannah Ballou sold 20 acres 

to Ferdinand D. Stephenson of Washington, D.C. for $1000. 

a: begin at the center of old road from the village of Herndon 

) 	 to Jenkins Mill and the southeast corner of a lot sold to 

Farnham, 

b: --(ba: S 17 1/20 E 	on center of road 28 rods), 

c: I. Bready (cb: S 820 W 119 rods), 

d: Farnham (de: with Bready 	N 30 W 27.75 rods), 

a: 	 beginning (ad: with Farnham N 820 E 111.5 rods), 

20 acres. 

The Ballous reserved to the Ballous, Farnhams, and Lacys the "right to pass 

and repass at pleasure 	on said road running in front of the lot hereby 

conveyed." 

Ferdinand D./Mattie J. Stephenson placed a lien on their newly 

purchased land also on 1 July 1878 (W4/311) with the intent of securing a 

$800 debt - $100 was due 6 September 1878 and every 3 months thereafter. 

Ancel St. John, the trustee, released the lien on 7 June 1880 (Z4/317). 
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On 8 December 1903* (06/383) Ferdinand D./Mattie J. Stephenson went 

for another lien, this time with C. C. Gaver as trustee; the lien was the 

law's answer to provide absolute assurance to Emma I. Zacharias that the 

Stephensons would surely repay the $2400 they owed Emma. Ferdinand and 

Mattie offered these 20 acres (plus lots 1, 2, 9, and 10 of block 7 of the 

Van Vleck subdivision and 2 parcels totalling 18 acres which are not in 

Herndon) as collateral. Gaver released the lien on 13 December 1906 

(X6/136). 

Ferdinand died but Mattie wanted to maintain the family's tradition-­

she asked Carolyn H. Eccles and Claude G. Stephenson to be trustees for a 

lien [26 December 1907 (Y6/529)] directed towards protecting Carolyn 

against the possible loss of the $1000 debt (due within 1 year) and Claude 

against the loss of another $1000 debt (due within 2 years); both debts 

were to be repaid with 6% interest and were released on 14 January 1909 

(K7/466) • 

*The deed states "1913" but it clearly must be 1903 since the release 
is in 1906. 
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IID2d: Elisha Dyer of Fairfax County bought 7.29 acres from 

Lyman D./Hannah H. Ballou for $145.75 on 1 May 1881 (D5/150). The money 

was payable in three installments: $50 on 1 January 1882, $50 on 1 January 

1883 and $45.75 on 1 January 1884, all with interest (at an unspecified 

rate) of course. 

a: 	 begin in the center of Folly Lick Run, about 1 pole west 

of a large white oak which is marked, 

b: 	 center of [Jenkins] Mill Road (ba: S 640 E 23 poles, 

7 links), 

c: 	 --(cb: with road N 15 1/40 E 10 poles), 

d: 	 --(de: N 22 3/40 E 10 poles), 

e: 	 --(ed: N 6 1/20 E 14 poles), 

f: 	 --(fe: N 100 E 24 poles), 

g: 	 pole in line of Van Deusen, corner also to Mrs. Van 

Vleck (gf: N 19 1/20 E 12 1/2 poles) 

h: 	 center of Folly Lick (hg: with Van Deusen, N 610 W 12.8 

poles) 

a: 	 large white oak one pole east of beginning (ah: up Folly 

Lick, S 36 3/40 W 8 3/4 poles, S 2 3/40 W 11 poles, 

S 76 3/40 W 8 3/4 poles, S 41 1/20 W, 7 poles, 

S 3 1/20 W 6 poles, S 80° E 4 poles, S 38 1/20 W 10 3/4 

poles, S 80 W 7 3/4 poles, S 67° W 6 3/4 poles, 

S 12 1/2° W 5 poles 10 links, S 47 1/20 W 8 poles, 


S 53° W 4 poles) 


7 acres 1 rood 6 perches = 7.29 acres 
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IID2dl: Elisha/Mildred Dyer of Herndon sold 1.49 acres to Minnie A. 

Dade of Herndon for $80 on 20 October 1892 (85/38). This land was called 

the south end of the lot Ballou sold Dyer. 

a: begin in the center of Folly Lick, 1 rod west of a 

marked, large white oak, 

b: we st side of Old Mill Road (ba: 8 640 , in I ine of Dade's 

land, 22 rods, 4 links), 

c: stake near the Branch (cb: with west side of road and 

parallel with Van Vleck's line, leaving a strip 12 feet 

wide for a road N 20 E 11 rods, 19 links), 

d: center of Folly Lick (dc: [-]620 W 16.25 rods), 

a: beginning (ad: up Folly Lick 8 480 W 13 rods), 

1.49 acres 

Minnie died and left this land to her sole heir, Thomas Dade; according to 

an affidavit filed with 932/464 (1 December 1951) she died about 1915. 

Thomas died 28 December 1950 and left the land to his wife Marsha 

Hackett Dade (WB 38/309), who died 2 May 1951 and left the land to her sole 

heir, Howard Osborne Hackett. 

\ 
J 
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IID2d2: Not until 1 February 1898 (H6/362) did the Dyers sell the 

remaining 6 acres; they sold the land to Edith S. Cummins for $300. 

A: 	 begin at a stake in the middle of an old road, corner to 

George Dade and Elisha Dyer on a line of Van Deusen, 

B: 	 "BII, a stone (BA: S 130 13' W 970.5 feet), 

C: 	 center of Folly Lick (CB: west with Mildred Dade and 

Eli sha Dyer),
" J 

D: 	 corner of Van Deusen and E. Dyer (DC: with Folly Lick), 

A: 	 beginning (AD: east with Van Deusen 12.8 poles), 

6 acres. 

Edith S./Charles F. Cummins of Herndon sold these six acres to Harrison J. 

Morton for $300 on 13 June 1902 (W6/286). 

B-156 




IID2e: On 26 November 1892 (85/39) Hannah/Frank M.* Ballou sold 2.25 

acre s to Minnie Dade, (wif e of Thomas R. Dade) for $900. 

a: begin at a planted stone in Old Jenkins Mill Road, 

corner to Brown, 

b: white oak, on Folly Lick (ba: with Brown N 640 W 30 

poles) , 

c: corner to E. Dyer, a point 1 pole west of large white 

oak (cb: down Folly Lick 18 poles), 

d: "said Mill" (de: with Dyer 8 640 E 23 poles 7 links), 

a: beginning (ad: with road 8 15 1/40 W 11.16 poles, 

2.25 acres. 

Minnie died and left this land to her sole heir, Thomas Dade; according to 

an affidavit filed with 932/464 (1 December 1951) she died about 1915. 

Thomas died 28 December 1950 and left the land to his wife, Marsha 

Hackett Dade (WB 38/309), who died 2 May 1951 and left the land to her sole 

heir, Howard Osborne Hackett. 

*Lyman's son. 
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IID2e: Hannah Ballou and Frank M. Ballou sold 2.25 acres to Harry H. 

Brown for $90 on 22 February 1893 (05/59). 

A: 	 begin at a marked white oak, corner to Mrs. McNeill on 

Folly Lick, 
') 
, 

B: 	 Jenkins Mill road (BA: wi th McNeill S 740 E 32 poles), 

C: 	 --(CB: N 28 1/20 E 11.5 poles on the road), 

D: 	 Folly Lick (DC: N 640 W 30 poles),
') 

A: beginning (AD: with Folly Lick), 

2.25 	acres. 

Harry 	H. Brown "of Fairfax County" sold his acreage to Benjamin T. 

Higgs, also of the County, for $125 on 17 October 1895 (V5/l). 

Benjamin Higgs died sometime around 1917; his heirs are listed in 

D8/543 (17 May 1917). He had not sold the land before his death. 
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Iill~; R. Henry Dutton of Herndon paid $260 on 16 August 1897 

(6A/152) to Hannah Ballou and Frank M./Eva Ballou for 1 acre of land. 

a: 	 begin in the center of Station Street, a corner to H.C. 

Wiley, 

b: 	 the Branch (ba: with Wiley N 79 3/40 W 30.5 rods), 

c: 	 --(cb: down the Branch 5 1/4 rods), 

d: 	 center of Station St. (dc: S 79 3/4 E 30 1/2 rods), 

a: 	 beginning (ad: with Station St. 5 1/4 rods), 

1 acre. 

R. Henry/Sallie L. Dutton placed a lien on this 1 acre on 31 December 

1897 (A5/153) in order to secure a $500 debt owed the Mercantile Railway 

Building and Loan Association; Thomas Moss, Jno. Wilkins, and Thomas Fannon 

served as trustees. The lien was released on 11 April 1903 (M6/236). 

The Duttons took another lien on 9 April 1903 (M6/238) to protect a 

$500 debt owed George Bell (at 6% interest). Walter T. Oliver was trustee 

and released the lien on 26 April 1916 (marginal note of M6/238). 

) 
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IID2g: On 19 April 1899 (C6/475) Hannah Ballou, widow, and Frank 

M./Eva Ballou placed a lien on "195 acres ••• except the 147 acres sold 

off before this date" - i.e. 48 acres. The metes and bounds given are 

those for the 195 acres not specifically for the 48 acres.* W. F. 

Middleton and Brook Middleton are the trustees and are responsible for 

overseeing the repayment of the $500 debt, at 6% interest, due Rachel A. 

Little. 

Even before this lien was repaid, the Ballous incurred another $350 

debt to Rachel A. Little, consequently that added a second lien on their 

land (described as 195 acres excepting the 147 acres sold off and the lots 

owned by McMillan, Simonds, Middleton and Dutton sold off to this date) on 

25 November 1903 (06/386) with the same trustees. The interest of this 

lien was also 6%. 

The Middletons released both liens on 23 February 1906 (T6/279). 

*The amount of land St. John sold Ballou is incorrectly stated in 
several deeds; the "correct" total must be 165 acres: 

o The St. Johns had only 199.4 acres after their subdivision with 
the Thompsons (see footnote in lID) and since they sold about 30 acres 
directly to others (see IID3-IID27), there simply were not 195 acres 
available; 

o the Ballous sold 107 acres before 1900 H (see IID2a-f); 
o a little geometry indicates that the land Ballou still owned in 

1900 was about 58 acres (see figure); 
o since all recorded sales by Ballou before 1900 are included in 

IID2a-f and since the figures indicate all remaining land after the sales, 
the total original purchase must have been about 165 acres; 

o since the estimate of 58 acres is merely a layman's estate but 
is reasonably close (that is, within 5 acres or so) I assumed that the 9 
digit in 195 was in error and should have been a 6, and that this error was 
simply transposed deed to deed. 
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IID3: Ancel/Isabella St. John of Herndon sold 20,000 square feet 

(.46 acres) of land to Joseph B. North, trustee for Mary E. Leonhardt (wife 

of Jacob) and for Mary N. North (wife of Joseph), for $125 on 25 March 1875 

(S4/187). 

a: begin at a point on the northeast line of the Washington 

and Ohio railroad, opposite the depot and at the 

intersection of the northeast line of Station Street, 

b: at right angles to the railroad and along the northwest 

line of Station Street 100 feet, 

c: at right angles and west, and parallel to the railroad, 

200 feet to a corner, 

d: at right angles, southwest and parallel to Station 

Street, 100 feet to northeast line of the railroad, 

a: at right angles, southeast along railroad 200 feet to 

the beginning, 

20,000 square feet = 0.46 acres. 
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In one of those transactions for which I wonder just what was the 

(unwritten) motivation, "Joseph B. North, trustee, Joseph B. North in his 

own right, and Mary M. North, his wifet! sold this one village lot to Mary 

E. Leonhardt and Joseph B. North, trustee, "for $5" on 11 November 1879 

(Z4/251). It is too cynical, of course, to assume that Joseph and Mary 

obtained a divorce, became legally separated, or had some other troubles 

which motivated Joseph to attempt to exclude his wife from his financial 

dealings--with names like Mary and Joseph, how could this be? 
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IID3a: Mary E. Leonhardt ("in her own right") of Herndon and Joseph 

) 	 B. North of Medicine Lodge, Kansas (trustee) sold part of their village lot 

to Hattie B. Nordstrom of Herndon for $650 on 2 April 1890 (15/561). 

a: 	 begin at the northeast line of the Washington and Ohio 

railroad where it intersects the northwest line of 

Sta tion Street, 

b: 	 northeast on the northwest side of Station 50 feet, 

c: 	 at right angles to Station and parallel with the 

railroad 200 feet, 

d: 	 at right angles and parallel with Station St., 50 feet 

to the northeast line of the railroad, 

a: 	 southwest with the railroad 200 feet to the beginning. 

10,000 square feet = 0.23 acres. 

Hattie married Benjamin H. Bready sometime between 1890 and 1893 but 

was a widow on 1 June 1894 (Q5/584) when she placed a lien on this land in 

order to appease the American Home Building and Loan Association of 

Richmond, Virginia. She owed $500 and agreed to repay $8.50 each month, 

starting 1 June 1894, until the debt was repaid. Dr. I.J. Hawkes and C.R. 

Bitzer, trustees, released the lien on 11 April 1900 (H6/9). 

Not satisfied with just one attempt at a lien, and looking for 

imaginative techniques, Hattie placed another lien on this land on 2 June 

1902 (K6/56); Isaiah Bready (her brother-in-law), acted as trustee. The 

interesting part of this lien was that the $600 loan was due (without any 

interest) "one day af ter decease of said maker of no te .[Ha t tie] • " A 
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